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Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority

October 25, 2017
Suggested Motions

q I move that the Board of Trustees accept the Audited Financial Statements prepared by 
Runyon Kersteen and Ouellette for the period ending June 30, 2017, as recommended by 
the Finance Committee.
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MRRA Board Meeting
October 25, 2017 at 4:00 P.M.

Location:  MRRA Offices, 15 Terminal Road, Suite 200, Brunswick, ME
Agenda

Agenda Item Requested Action

1. Board Meeting - Welcome and Introductions 

2. Notes from 10/17/17 Finance Committee meeting

3. Audit Acceptance
a. Uniform Guidance Report
b. Management Letter
c. Annual Financial Report
d. Federal Audit Report

10. Other Business
11. Public Comment
12. Executive Session – Property Disposition Matters (1 MRSA Sec. 405(6)(C))
13. Adjourn

MRRA’S 10TH ANNUAL MEETING IS NOVEMBER 15 AT HILTON GARDEN INN FREEPORT
Board Meeting:  2:30 p.m. in the Old Town Hall adjacent to Hotel

Reception/Dinner:  4:00 p.m. in the Hotel’s Ballroom
Please check our website at www.mrra.us for more details and updates, or call us at 207-798-6512

MRRA Board Meeting - Agenda
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Finance Committee

Meeting Notes

October 17, 2017

Members Present: Steve Weems, Treasurer
Rita Armstrong
John Peters

Members Absent: George Gervais

Others Present: Linda Smith, Economic Development Director, Town of Brunswick

Staff Present: Jeffrey K. Jordan, Deputy Director
Steve Levesque, Executive Director (Executive Session)
Tushima Sims, Bookkeeper

Location: MRRA Board Room, 15 Terminal Road

The meeting was called to order at 9:00 a.m.

1. Agenda.

Steve Weems announced there was a quorum and called the meeting to order.

2. Review Meeting Notes – September 19, 2017

The Finance Committee reviewed the meeting notes of September 19, 2017. A motion was made and 
seconded to approve the meeting notes as presented.  Vote: In Favor 3; Opposed 0; Absent 1. 

The Chairman asked that the Committee turn immediately to agenda item 5 regarding the audit. The 
Committee agreed.

5. Audit of Financial Statements at June 30, 2017 – Runyon Kersteen and Ouellette (Hank Farrar and 
Tim Gill)

Hank Farrah and Tim Gill from Runyon Kersteen and Ouellette were on hand to present the draft 
audit of the Financial Statements for the period ending June 30, 2017.  
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a. Letters to the Board of Trustees Regarding Internal Controls and Financial Statements. 
Hank Farrah presented a draft letter to the Board of Trustees reporting Runyon Kersteen and 
Ouellette’s (RKO) findings in relation to testing of internal controls and review of the 
Financial Statements under the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
requirements.  Mr. Farrah reported in detail on the processes used to test internal control 
procedures and then stated that they did not identify any deficiencies in MRRA’s internal 
control procedures (page 1).  He also reported that MRRA’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement and their tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other 
matters that are required to be reported under Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
requirements (page 2).

b. The Letter to the Board of Trustees Regarding Compliance for each Major Program as 
Required by OMB Uniform Guidance.

Mr. Farrah then reviewed the second letter to the Board of Trustees regarding the required 
testing and reporting under the provisions of Office of Management and Budget (OMB) 
Uniform Guidance (formerly Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments and Non-Profit 
Organizations).   This report is intended to test and report on compliance with federal grant 
requirements.   Mr. Farrah noted they did not find any material deficiencies.

The Letter also stated that RKO did not identify any material deficiencies in internal control 
over compliance (page 5).  Finally, the Letter to the Board also reports on the Schedule of 
Expenditures of Federal Awards.  The letter states RKO has audited MRRA’s Financial 
Statements and issued an unmodified opinion (clean opinion) on those financial statements 
in accordance with the auditing standards Generally Accepted Accounting Procedures 
(GAAP) in the United States (page 5).

c. Management Letter

Mr. Gill then reviewed the Management Letter.   The Management Letter stated that RKO 
considered and reviewed internal control over financial reporting and did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal controls (page 1).   While RKO issued an unmodified opinion on 
internal controls and the financial statements, they did identify the following issues:

1. Payroll – four variances in payroll between time sheets and hours paid.

2. Credit card receipts – 21 instances of individual credit card paper receipts had not 
been signed

3. There were two instances in TechPlace in which the lease rates had not been 
increased on the anniversary date of the lease agreement. 

4. Intercompany transfers – Transfers between the companies did not agree on the 
unadjusted trial balance. 

MRRA Board Meeting - Notes from 10/17/17 Finance Committee
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d. Financial Report.  

The report on Financial Statements begins with a two-page letter to the Board of Trustees.   
The Letter describes both management’s and the auditor’s responsibility in the preparation 
of financial statements.  Runyon Kersteen and Ouellette stated that “in our opinion, the 
financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority as of June 30, 2017, and the 
changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.”

The Financial Report presents a statement of revenue, expenditures, assets and liabilities of 
the organization consistent with GASB 34, a format of governmental accounting that 
presents financial information in a format similar to a private business, rather than the 
historical method of governmental fund accounting, which did not capitalize or depreciate 
equipment or infrastructure.  Mr. Farrah stated that overall Runyon Kersteen and Ouellette 
have provided MRRA with an unmodified (clean) audit opinion.  

Discussion

The Committee discussed with the Deputy Director what action he has taken or will take to correct 
the areas of improvement noted by the auditors.  The Committee voted to recommend that the 
Board accept the Audit Financial Statements for the period ending June 30, 2017 as presented.   
Vote: In Favor 3; Opposed 0.

6. Financial Reports for Period Ending September 30, 2017

a. Consolidated financial reports – profit and loss, balance sheet and statement of cash 
flows for all MRRA entities

b. Bank Reconciliation Statement – September 30, 2017
c. Detail Transaction Reports

i. Journal Entries – September 2017
ii. Transaction List by Tenant – September 2017

iii. Transaction List by Vendor – September 2017

FY 2018 MRRA budget
The Deputy noted that at we are at the end of September we are 25.0% the way through the fiscal 
year.  The Deputy noted that the State provided the J-TIF revenue from calendar year 2016 taxes 
totaling $76,383 up from $67,192 last year.  Revenues to date are $529,757; or 33.5% of budget.

On the expenditure side, expenditures total $346,618 or 19.6% expended.   Personnel and Employees 
are on track. Supplies are at 5.6%.  This category includes heating fuel which is at 3.4% expended.

For Professional Service are at 11.6% or $19,529.  Property Services are at 2.0%, with building 
maintenance at 4%.  
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Other purchased services are at 41.4% expended with liability insurance and building insurance having 
been paid in June and automobile insurance in September.

With transfers in of $67,502 the current surplus is $250,640.97.

FY 2018 Airport budget
Airport revenues are at $190,636.39 or 19.3%. Lease revenue is at 18.3%.   

On the expense side, the Airport has incurred total expenses of $309,083 prior to transfers.  
Personnel Services and Employee Benefits are on track.  Supplies are at 4.4% expended or $7,388, 
with Heating Fuel at 1.6% expended. Professional Services are at 65.7% with Legal Services well over 
budget to address collection issues.  Property Services is at 25.6% expended in large part because of 
the payment of the annual contract to the FAA to pay for the maintenance of the Instrument 
Landing System (ILS) of $11,088 and Building Maintenance expenditures to date of $18,495. Finally, 
Other Purchased Services is 78.7% expended having paid the Building Insurance premium of $24,266 
in July.

With the end of the first quarter, the Deputy noted that he had prepared adjustments to the Reserve 
for Uncollectable Leases and Loans.   This recalculation at September 30 required an expense of 
$148,215 for uncollectable leases and $26,431 for uncollectable loans. 

With transfers to date of $53,417 the current deficit is $171,864.

The Committee asked that with the termination of the lease with Kestrel and Maine Tool and 
Machine in October this year (October 2 and 6th respectfully) that the entire balance of receivables
be expensed to the Reserve for Uncollectables and that the staff present at the November a strategy 
on how to increase revenues or reduce expenditures to offset this impact on the FY 2018 Executive 
Airport budget.  Vote:  In Favor: 3; Opposed: 0; Absent: 1

FY 2018 Electrical budget
As of September 30, the Electrical budget includes billed revenues for service through August.
Expenditures totaled $374,034. With transfers out of $1,666 the current surplus is $16,560.

FY 2018 Water budget
The Water Utility budget includes billed revenues for service through August of $44,016.  
Expenditures totaled $50,389. With transfers in of $1,458 (services to other MRRA entities), the 
current deficit is $4,864.54.

FY 2018 Sewer User Fund Budget
As reported in August, transfer of the sanitary sewer collection and pump station system did not 
occur on July 1 as originally anticipated due to concerns raised by the Brunswick Sewer District during 
its camera inspection of the repairs in the system performed by St. Laurent and Sons; so, a budget 
for FY 2018 has not been adopted; but a proposal was on this agenda for consideration. Total 
revenues at the end of September of $70,386 includes service through August. Expenditures at the 
end of September are $88,860. With transfers in of $1,337, the current deficit is $17,137. The rates 
billed to date have not included an assessment for maintenance/repair for the system.
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FY 2018 Capital Improvement 
Total revenues are $175,700 with the transfer of funds from the Capital Reserve Account as 
authorized by the Board. Expenditures date include a payment to SaviLinx of $100,000 for 
renovations to its space in building 250.  The Deputy noted that MRRA had purchased a new service 
truck as it could not find a used one to purchase.  The stormwater camera inspection system has 
been put on hold until next fiscal year. There have also been significant expenditures on MAP 
projects 27 and 28.  The current deficit is $252,848 which is function of not having received any TIF 
funds to date and receivables from the FAA.

FY 2017 Capital Improvement 
As of June 30, 2017, $100,800 has been transferred from MRRA and BXM to fund the CIP, 10% of lease 
revenue and a $150,000 appropriation from Capital Reserves.  With an appropriation of TIF Funds by 
the Town of Brunswick, $234,627 has been budgeted for the FY 2017 Capital Improvement Plan.   
Revenues totaled $2,895,165.   On the expenditure side, we have spent $2,737,945; primarily on FAA 
MAP projects and a parking lot resurfacing for SaviLinx.  The current surplus of $157,220, which a 
function of not having moved forward with the Sewer System Pump Station project and yet a 
portion of the local funds were raised from Capital Reserve Funds. 

FY 2016 Capital Improvement
The FY 2016 CIP has a current surplus of $77,086.94 as the final payment for the I and I infrastructure 
project has not been made and revenues are booked.   Once that project is complete this budget will 
be closed out.

FY 2017 Grants Budget
In May of 2017 MRRA received an advance of $203,380 from Maine Technology Institute for the 
composite lab.  There have been only expenditures of $82,289.54 to date.  The current surplus is 
$121,090.46.  

FY 2016 Grants Budget
The current FY 2016 and Prior Grants Fund budget has a deficit of $363,385.03.  There is current 
receivable from MDOT of 269,847.34 (MaineDOT only pays upon project completion) and $93,533.43
from the FAA.  

Reserves
The Reserve balance at September 30, 2017 was $4,772,480.   The Annuitization Reserve stands at 
$2,293905.99 up from $1,818.876.90 last month, as result of the sale of lots 6 and 7.

Homeless Assistance
The Homeless Assistance Fund has a current surplus of $1,277.  The Balance Sheet Deferred Revenue 
stands at $3,836.82.

Brunswick Landing Realty Development (TechPlace)
Lease revenues of $77,394.56 are at 23.7% to budget, which is strong given the fact that the Board 
had budgeted $33,300 of anticipated leases.  Total revenues are at 17.3% as we have not drawn on the 
Annuitization Fund to support the budget yet. On the expenditure side, total expenses are at 
$38,458.91 at the end of September or 21.5% expended. Nearly half of the expense is in two primary 
categories, liability insurance of $10,661 and CAM charges of $12,849.
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With Transfers out of $36,849, the current surplus is $5,444. 

Brunswick Landing Realty Development Capital Improvement Plan
There has been no activity in this account other than to transfer 10% of lease revenue from 
TechPlace; $2,700 and the transfer of $25,916 from the FY 2017 which did not have any expenditures.

Other MRRA Entities

Brunswick Landing MHC USA, LLC
Revenues total $389,897.60 or 33.3%.  On the expenditure side interest expense totals $153,385.95, 
25.1%. Without depreciation expense, there is a reported surplus of $83,031.63. 

Brunswick Landing Economic Development Corporation
There has been no activity this year to date.

Midcoast Charitable Foundation of Maine
An Officers and Director’s insurance premium was paid for $1,900.

Other submitted reports include balance sheets and statement of cashflows for each of the MRRA 
entities and detail tenant/customer transactions for the month of September, detail vendor 
transactions for August and Journal Entries.  The Committee voted to recommend that the Board of 
Trustees accept the financial reports for September 30, 2017, as presented.  Vote:  In Favor: 3; 
Opposed: 0; Absent: 1

(Steve Levesque entered the meeting)

4. Proposed Amendment to the FY 2017 MRRA Budget adopting a Sewer Utility Budget for FY 
2018

The presented the proposed FY 2018 Sewer User Budget for the balance of the fiscal year, should the 
Brunswick Sewer District not accept the proposal to take over the sanitary sewer system at its Board 
meeting on Thursday.  The Committee voted to recommend to the Board of Trustees at its Annual 
Meeting in November the Sanitary Sewer budget presented by the Deputy Director (attached).  
Vote:  In Favor: 3; Opposed: 0; Absent: 1

7. Executive Session
The Committee voted to go into Executive Session at 9:50 a.m.  Vote:  In Favor: 3; Opposed: 0; 
Absent: 1

The Committee voted to come out of Executive Session at 10:05 a. m. Vote: In Favor: 3; Opposed: 0; 
Absent: 1.
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Meeting was adjourned at 10:10 a.m.

Respectfully Submitted,

Jeffrey K. Jordan
Deputy Director

Future Meetings:  November 21, 2017
MRRA Board Room - 8:00 a.m.
15 Terminal Road
Brunswick, Maine
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Reports Required by Government Auditing
Standards and the Uniform Guidance
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MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Reports Required by Government Auditing Standards

and the Uniform Guidance
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Report Page

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance 
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards 1-2

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and on Internal Control
over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance 3-5

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 6

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 7

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs:

Section I - Summary of Auditor's Results 8

Section II - Findings Required to be Reported Under Government Auditing Standards 9

Section III - Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 10

Section IV - Status of Prior Year Findings and Questioned Costs for Federal Awards 11

MRRA Board Meeting - Audit

11



1

Certified Public Accountants and Business Consultants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Trustees
Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Midcoast Regional 
Redevelopment Authority (a component unit of the State of Maine), as of and for the year ended June 
30, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Midcoast 
Regional Redevelopment Authority’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon 
dated October 18, 2017.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Midcoast Regional 
Redevelopment Authority’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion
on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect or correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not prevented, or detected and 
corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention 
by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

MRRA Board Meeting - Audit
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS, CONTINUED

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Midcoast Regional Redevelopment 
Authority’s financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, 
noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial 
statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests 
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards.

We noted certain suggestions for improvement to operating controls that we reported to management 
of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority in a separate letter dated October 18, 2017.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

October 18, 2017
South Portland, Maine

MRRA Board Meeting - Audit
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Certified Public Accountants and Business Consultants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL 
CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

Board of Trustees
Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority’s (a component unit of the State of 
Maine) compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance 
Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment 
Authority’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2017.  Midcoast Regional 
Redevelopment Authority’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results 
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management’s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of federal statutes, regulations, and 
the terms and conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment 
Authority’s major federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above.  We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits 
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; 
and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those 
standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above 
that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred.  An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence about Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority’s compliance 
with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program.  However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Midcoast Regional 
Redevelopment Authority’s compliance.

MRRA Board Meeting - Audit
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL 
CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE, CONTINUED

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority complied, in all material respects, with the 
types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on 
each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2017.

Report on Internal Control over Compliance

Management of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining effective internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above.  In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered Midcoast 
Regional Redevelopment Authority's internal control over compliance with the types of requirements 
that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance 
in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority’s internal control over compliance.  

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A 
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is 
less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to 
merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of the internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in the internal control 
over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  

MRRA Board Meeting - Audit
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL 
CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE, CONTINUED

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
the Uniform Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance

We have audited the financial statements of the Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority as of and 
for the year ended June 30, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority’s basic financial statements.  We issued our 
report thereon dated October 18, 2017, which contained an unmodified opinion on those financial 
statements.  Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial 
statements that collectively comprise the basic financial statements.  The accompanying schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the 
Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  Such information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  The information has been subjected 
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly 
stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

October 18, 2017
South Portland, Maine
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MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Federal 2017 CFDA/ Passed 

Federal Grantor/Pass-through CFDA Federal Cluster Through to

Grantor/Program Title Number Expenditures Totals Subrecipients

U.S. Department of Commerce:

     Economic Development Cluster:

Investments for Public Works and Economic Development Facilities:

 01-01-14050 11.300 662,087$               -                      

     Total Economic Development Cluster 662,087                  

Total U.S. Department of Commerce 662,087                  -                      

U.S. Department of Defense:

Community Economic Adjustment Assistance for Establishment,

Expansion, Realignment, or Closure of Military Installation:

HQ00051510037 12.607 48,907                    -                      

HQ00051610225 12.607 380,400                  429,307                  -                      

Total U.S. Department of Defense 429,307                  -                      

U.S. Department of Transportation:

Airport Improvement Program:

3-23-0056-016-2014 20.106 233                         -                      

3-23-0056-017-2014 20.106 38,527                    -                      

3-23-0056-019-2015 20.106 957,497                  -                      

3-23-0056-020-2015 20.106 444                         -                      

3-23-0056-021-2015 20.106 198,768                  -                      

3-23-0056-023-2016 20.106 70,783                    -                      

3-23-0056-024-2016 20.106 362,870                  -                      

3-23-0056-025-2016 20.106 1,498,345              -                      

3-23-0056-026-2016 20.106 62,846                    3,190,313              -                      

Total U.S. Department of Transportation 3,190,313              -                      

Total federal expenditures 4,281,707$            -                      

See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards.

6
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MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

June 30, 2017

PURPOSE OF THE SCHEDULE

Office of Management and Budget (OMB)’s Uniform Guidance requires a schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards showing total expenditures for each federal award program as identified in the Catalog of Federal 
Domestic Assistance (CFDA).  

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. Reporting Entity - The accompanying schedule includes all federal award programs of Midcoast Regional 
Redevelopment Authority for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017.  The reporting entity is defined in the 
notes to the financial statements of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority.  

B. Basis of Presentation - The information in the accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is 
presented in accordance with the Uniform Guidance.

1. Pursuant to the Uniform Guidance, federal awards are defined as assistance provided by a federal 
agency, either directly or indirectly, in the form of grants, contracts, cooperative agreements, loans, 
loan guarantees, property, interest subsidies, insurance, or direct appropriations.  

2. Major Programs - the Uniform Guidance establishes the level of expenditures or expenses to be used 
in defining major federal award programs.  Major programs for Midcoast Regional Redevelopment 
Authority are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section in the schedule of findings and 
questioned costs.  

C. Basis of Accounting - The information presented in the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is 
presented on the accrual basis of accounting, which is consistent with the reporting in the Authority’s 
financial statements.  The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards does not include matching amounts 
that the Authority expends in connection with its federal programs.

D. Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect 
cost rate allowed under the Uniform Guidance.
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MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

June 30, 2017

Section I - Summary of Auditor's Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor’s report issued on whether the financial
   statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weaknesses identified? No
Significant deficiency identified? None reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? No

Federal Awards

Internal control over major federal programs:
Material weaknesses identified? No
Significant deficiency identified? None reported

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance
for major federal programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required 
to be reported in accordance with the
Uniform Guidance? No

Identification of major federal programs:

CFDA Numbers Name of Federal Program or Cluster

20.106 Airport Improvement Program

Dollar threshold used to distinguish 
between Type A and Type B programs: $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? No
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MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued

Section II - Findings Required to be Reported Under Government Auditing Standards

NONE
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MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued

Section III - Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

NONE
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MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued

Section IV - Status of Prior Year Findings and Questioned Costs for Federal Awards

2016-001 - U.S. Department of Transportation, for the Period July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2016, CFDA 20.106 
Airport Improvement Program

Statement of Condition: Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority improperly reported expenditures of 
federal funds on the SF-425 Federal Financial Report.    

Criteria: Program costs and receipts are required to be reported annually to the federal oversight agency to 
ensure proper usage of federal funds.

Effect: Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority could be subject to reduced federal funding in the future if 
federal funds are not properly documented and reported.

Cause:  Expenditures were underreported by $159,534 for AIP #3-23-0056-016-2014 on the SF-425 Federal 
Financial Report for the period ended September 26, 2015.

Questioned Costs: None

Status: The SF-425 reports were completed and funds were accurately reported in the current year

2016-002 - U.S. Department of Transportation, for the Period July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2016, CFDA 20.106 
Airport Improvement Program

Statement of Condition: Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority drew down funds and did not disburse all 
of those funds prior to or immediately after receiving those funds.    

Criteria: When entities are funded on a reimbursement basis, program costs must be paid for by entity funds 
before reimbursement is requested from the Federal Government.

Effect: Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority could be subject to submitting interest earned on funds 
held for a significant time period.

Cause:  $39,799 of federal funds related to AIP #3-23-0056-03-2011 were disbursed 27 days after receipt from 
the Federal Aviation Administration.  

Questioned Costs: None

Status: All funds drawn in the current year were disbursed to vendors in an appropriate time period.
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Certified Public Accountants and Business Consultants 

 
October 18, 2017 

 
 
 

To the Management of 
   Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority: 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment 
Authority  (a  component  unit  of  the  State  of Maine)  as  of  and  for  the  year  ended  June  30,  2017,  in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we considered 
Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) 
as a basis  for designing audit procedures that are appropriate  in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion on  the effectiveness of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority’s  internal 
control.   
 
A  deficiency  in  internal  control  exists  when  the  design  or  operation  of  a  control  does  not  allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect  and  correct,  misstatements  on  a  timely  basis.    A  material  weakness  is  a  deficiency  or  a 
combination of deficiencies in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis.   
 
Our consideration of  internal control was  for  the  limited purpose described  in the first paragraph and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses.  Given 
these  limitations,  during  our  audit,  we  did  not  identify  any  deficiencies  in  internal  control  that  we 
consider  to  be  material  weaknesses.    However,  material  weaknesses  may  exist  that  have  not  been 
identified. 
 
During our audit, we became aware of other matters that are opportunities for strengthening internal 
control  and  operating  efficiency.    The  attached  schedule  summarizes  our  comments  and  suggestions 
regarding those matters.  This letter does not affect our report dated October 18, 2017 on the financial 
statements of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority.  
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Management of 
   Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority 
Page 2 
 
 
We wish to express our appreciation for the cooperation and assistance we received from the officials 
and employees of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority during the course of our audit.  We will 
review  the  status of  these  comments during our next  audit  engagement.   We have already discussed 
these  comments and  suggestions with  various Authority personnel,  and we will be pleased  to discuss 
them in further detail at your convenience, to perform any additional study of these matters, or to assist 
you in implementing the recommendations. 
 
This  communication  is  intended  solely  for  the  information  and  use  of  management,  the  Board  of 
Trustees,  and  others  within  the  organization,  and  is  not  intended  to  be  and  should  not  be  used  by 
anyone other than these specified parties. 
 

Sincerely, 
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MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
Schedule of Comments 

June 30, 2017 

 
Payroll Procedures 
 
As part of our testing over the payroll process, we selected three pay periods for review.  Within those three pay 
periods, we examined forty‐four timesheets.  We found exceptions on four of those timesheets where the hours 
documented  varied  from  the  hours  submitted  to  the  payroll  processor.  Additionally,  there was  one  instance 
found  where  we  could  not  locate  sufficient  documentation  to  support  a  large  buyout  of  an  employee’s 
accumulated vacation time. We recommend that management implement a process and review all timesheets 
and  reconcile  the  hours  recorded  to  the  hour’s  summary  list  prior  to  submitting  the  data  to  the  payroll 
processor.    Also,  all  unusual  or  infrequent  transactions,  which  would  include  vacation  buyouts,  should  be 
supported by proper documentation. 
 
Lease Revenue 
 
As part of our testing over the lease billing and the related revenues, we selected forty transactions for review. 
Of  those  forty  transactions,  we  found  two  instances where  the  amounts  billed  varied  from  the  signed  lease 
agreements. In each of the exceptions noted, the variances were immaterial and were a result of billed amounts 
which were not updated to reflect new lease rates that went into effect on the tenant’s anniversary date.  We 
recommend that management reviews the billings and lease agreements monthly to ensure rates are updated 
appropriately.  
 
Credit Card Documentation 
 
During our testing of credit card disbursements, we noted twenty‐one instances out of the fifty disbursements 
selected for testing where credit card expenditures did not indicate review or approval by management. In order 
to ensure the credit cards are being used for appropriate purchases, it is important to review all transactions. In 
order  to  improve  internal  controls,  we  recommend  ensuring  that  all  supporting  documentation  is  acquired, 
reviewed, and approved prior to payment of the monthly statement balance. 
 
Intercompany Transactions 
 
Part  of  the  audit  process  involves  examining  intercompany  transactions  between  the  Midcoast  Regional 
Redevelopment Authority  and  its  subsidiaries and ensuring  that  all  such  funds  recorded as  revenue, expense, 
transfers, receivables, or payables reconcile between the related organizations.   Our initial examination of the 
trial balance  for each organization revealed that such  intercompany transactions did not reconcile.   While the 
variance  between  the  balances  at  each  entity  were  immaterial,  we  suggest  that  the  Authority  implement  a 
monthly  intercompany  reconciliation  process  to  ensure  such  variances  are  identified  and  corrected  before 
growing into a significant amount. 

MRRA Board Meeting - Audit

25



 

 

 
MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

 
Annual Financial Report 

 
For the Year Ended 

June 30, 2017 
 

 

 

 

 

 

MRRA Board Meeting - Audit

26



MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Annual Financial Report

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Table of Contents

Page

Independent Auditor’s Report 1-2

Management's Discussion and Analysis 3-11

Financial Statements:

Combined Statement of Net Position 12

Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 13

Combined Statement of Cash Flows 14

Notes to Financial Statements 15-23

Exhibits:

Combining Statements of Net Position 24

Combining Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 25

Combining Statements of Cash Flows 26

Schedule of Operating Revenues – Budget to Actual 27

Schedule of Operating Expenses – Budget to Actual 28-29

Schedule of Activities 30

MRRA Board Meeting - Audit

27



Certified Public Accountants and Business Consultants

Independent Auditor's Report

Board of Trustees
Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority

Report on Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority, a 
component unit of the State of Maine, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2017, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, which collectively comprise Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority’s basic 
financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority, as of June 30, 2017, and the changes in
its financial position and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Board of Trustees
Page 2

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting 
for placing the financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We 
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority’s basic financial statements. The 
combining financial statements, budget to actual schedules, and schedule of activities are presented for 
the purpose of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements.  

The combining financial statements, budget to actual schedules, and schedule of activities are the 
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in 
relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.  

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated October 18, 2017
on our consideration of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority’s internal control over financial 
reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant 
agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing and not to provide 
an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of 
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Midcoast Regional 
Redevelopment Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

October 18, 2017
South Portland, Maine
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Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2017

3

Introduction 

This section of the annual financial report is known as Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). The MD&A
is an analysis of the financial condition and operating results of the Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority 
(MRRA) for the period ending June 30, 2017 and is intended to introduce the basic financial statements and notes.
It is designed to provide an objective and easily readable examination of MRRA’s financial activities based on 
currently known facts, decisions, or conditions. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with MRRA’s financial
statements and accompanying notes.

Major Initiatives, Accomplishments, and Financial Highlights – July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017

Property Transfers

Since the approval of the Public Benefit Conveyance (PBC) and the signing of the Economic Development 
Conveyance (EDC) Purchase and Sale Agreement in 2011, the Navy has transferred approximately 1,768.01 of the 
2,114.6 acres we are slated to receive.  MRRA now owns 785.32 (70.6%) of the 1,112 acres of the non-airport 
property and 982.69 (98%) of the 1,002.6 acres of airport land.

The only transaction with the United States Government this year was when the Navy issued a Finding of Suitability 
to Lease (FOSL) and Lease in Furtherance of Conveyance for building 19 and the parking lot at Fitch and Orion for 
a total of 2.47 acres.

On the sales side, MRRA sold the former Small Arms Firing Range (building 102), National Maritime Intelligence
Center building (building 223) and 5.47 acres to TBW, LLC on September 25 and the former Military Working Dog 
Kennel (building 103) and 2.68 acres to 14 Wiley Road, LLC.

TIF Districts

In March 2013, the Town of Brunswick approved two tax increment financing (TIF) districts at Brunswick Landing.  
One district was designed to serve properties within the confines of the airport and a second district in the non-
aviation area of the campus.  The thirty-year TIF development program called for a revenue share of fifty percent of 
incremental tax revenue to invest up to $12 million for various infrastructure upgrades at Brunswick Landing.  In 
September of 2016, MRRA and the Town of Brunswick negotiated a slightly modified TIF Agreement that splits 
property tax revenue on a 50/50 basis up to $15 million.  The Brunswick Executive Airport Municipal Development 
and Tax Increment Financing District was amended to authorize MRRA to enter into a tax credit enhancement 
agreement with aeronautical business tenants who are located at the Brunswick Executive Airport equal to one 
hundred percent (100.0%) of assessed captured value for a period of up to thirty years or for the remaining period 
in the Tax Increment Financing District Agreement.  MRRA will receive fifty percent (50.0%) of the tax increment 
financing revenues for all non-aeronautical uses with the Town of Brunswick receiving the remaining fifty percent 
(50.0%) of the tax increment financing revenues from the captured assessed value.  The Brunswick Landing 
Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District was amended to reflect that that MRRA will receive 
twenty-five percent (25.0%) of the tax increment financing revenues with the Town of Brunswick receiving the 
remaining seventy-five (75.0%) percent of the tax increment financing revenues from the captured assessed value.   
A final adjustment is made to the calculation to assure that MRRA and Town of Brunswick’s share are each 50% of
the total captured TIF dollars.
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Grants

In FY 2017, MRRA was awarded a $380,400 grant from the Office of Economic Adjustment within the Department 
of Defense to support ten of the twelve staff employed by MRRA for FY 2017.

This year, the Brunswick Executive Airport was awarded nearly $4.64 million for upgrades to the following facilities:

In May 2016, MRRA requested the Economic Development Administration to reprogram funds from the Kestrel 
Aircraft paint booth project to additional building improvements in hangar 4. EDA approved an amendment on April 
19, 2017 that would allow the replacement of the roof over hangar shops, the demolition of non-code compliant 
interior spaces, ADA improvements, repairs to the fire protection system and construction of industrial shop spaces.  
Construction was completed in September and the $1.7 EDA Grant was closed out.

This spring MRRA submitted four projects to the Midcoast Economic Development District for inclusion in the 
Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS), a regional economic development planning process that 
identifies important sustainable economic development strategies and making them eligible for future grants from 
the Economic Development Administration.  All four projects were selected as high priority regional projects.  Those 
projects are:

 Sewer Collection System and Pump Station upgrades at Brunswick Landing

 TechPlace Expansion

 Industrial Subdivision build out

 Building demolition

TechPlace

On April 2, 2014, MRRA signed a lease with Brunswick Landing Realty Development Corporation for 94,609 square 
feet of space in building 250 (the former Aviation Intermediate Maintenance Department) for the creation of a 
new technology accelerator and business incubator known as TechPlace with funding from Make It in America 
Challenge Grant from the U.S. Department of Commerce.  Matching grant dollars were provided by the Brunswick 
Development Corporation, the Town of Brunswick (with a CDBG grant from the State of Maine), and MRRA.  MRRA 

Pavement Repairs and Maintenance $     119,300

Hangar 4 Improvements, Phase 3.  Fire protection 
systems and alarms, separate heating system from 
TechPlace.  Renovate office and shop spaces and 
install elevator to mezzanine.

2,900,000

Hangar 4 Radiant Heating Project 1,558,100

Environmental Assessment and Permitting - Tree 
Clearing and Fence and Box Hanger

$71,100

$ 4,648,500
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completed the repairs and renovations to building 250 and opened the doors to TechPlace, the State’s first 
technology accelerator, on January 7, 2016.  TechPlace was designed to support innovative manufacturing 
businesses in the sectors of advanced materials, composites technology, aerospace/aviation, biotech/biomed, IT, 
and renewable energy.  

On December 20, 2016, MRRA received a Cluster Initiative Grant award from the Maine Technology Institute for 
$495,165 to construct a composites material layup lab and repairs/renovations to the former Navy paint booth at 
TechPlace.

As of the end of June, we have 27 businesses at TechPlace with 61 full time employees and 21 part-time employees.  
In addition to our tenants’ use of the facility, TechPlace has already been utilized by a number of partner 
organizations for training and networking events.  

Other Public and Private Investment at Brunswick Landing

This year, the Northbridge Company completed construction of a new 60,000 square foot memory care facility.  
This year, Priority Real Estate Corporation completed the construction of a new convenience store and fuel filling 
station on Bath Road.

TBW, LLC began significant renovations to building 223, the former National Maritime Intelligence Center (NMIC)
that will house the Harpswell Coastal Academy when completed.

Flight Deck Brewing completed renovations to the former small 
arms firing range to create a new brewery and tasting room.

Loans from MRRA

MRRA has approved a total of eight working capital loans –one of 
which was approved this fiscal year; a $50,000 loan to Flight Deck 
Brewing.

MRRA also has a loan to SaviLinx for $250,000 for computers, 
office equipment, and furnishings.   MRRA had borrowed money 
from the Maine Rural Development Authority and relent it to 
SaviLinx.  

MRRA also has two forgivable performance related demand notes, 
Brunswick Naval Museum and Memorial Garden and Wayfair 
totaling $520,000.

Positive Economic Impacts

FY 2017 was another busy, challenging, and successful year for 
MRRA.  MRRA continues to work hard to enhance the redevelopment 
of Brunswick Landing and Topsham Commerce Park and to be a catalyst for the State's economic growth.  Our 
business development efforts continue to focus on quality job creation in several targeted industries: 
aviation/aeronautics, clean technology, composites, information technology, biotechnology, and education. This 
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past year, MRRA continued its national and international marketing efforts to promote Maine to grow these 
targeted industry sectors.

The Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority reached a number of important milestone. Consistent with 
MRRA’s adopted Strategic Business Plan for 2016, this past year's performance on those objectives include the 
following accomplishments: 

 Awarded a five-year extension of FAA’s Military Airport Program (MAP) which will provide just over $20 
million of funding for capital improvements at BXM over the next five years.   

 MRRA currently has over 487,143 square feet under lease to over 37 direct tenants and over 68 entities 
doing business on the former base 
properties.  Collectively, these entities 
employ approximately 1,088 people on 
a full-time basis and 275 on a part-time 
basis for a total of 1,363.  It should also 
be noted that there are 160 Maine Army 
National Guard members and 124 
Marine Corps Reservists assigned to 
their units at Brunswick Landing.  In 
addition, the new L.L. Bean project at 
Brunswick Landing will result in the 
creation of up to 75 new jobs at the off-
site Brunswick manufacturing facility.  

 Over $86,847,100 in new property 
valuation has been added to the 
property tax rolls in the town of 
Brunswick and $3,684,800 in Topsham 
generating new property tax revenues for FY 
2017 in Brunswick of $2,548,962 and $66,290 in Topsham.

 Completed major capital improvement project on the primary incoming feeder and main electrical 
distribution center on Admiral Fitch Avenue to improve reliability and performance of the Brunswick 
Landing electrical grid. 

 Completed an assessment of the water distribution system at Brunswick Landing.   Identified deficiencies 
and deferred maintenance impacting efficiency and compliance and developed prioritized and phased 
upgrade/improvement program.

 SaviLinx received HubZone Certification, the first business at Brunswick Landing to be certified by the Small 
Business Administration since the new law took effect.

 MaineBiz Magazine awarded Wicked Joe’s Coffee, a landowner at the Topsham Commerce Park its Small 

Company Business Leader of the Year Award.

 MRRA has sold a total of 45 buildings and 407.10 acres to the private sector.
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 In April, ATOL USA, Inc. announced that it had chosen Brunswick Landing as it’s American headquarters to 
handle the production, delivery and support of the Atol 
650 sea plane.

Leases

In FY 2017, MRRA signed the following new leases:

 All Natural Technologies

 American Classic

 Brunswick Aviation Services

 Flight Deck Brewing

 JMH Associates

 Maine Coastal Flight

 Spooner Enterprises

 Windflow Technologies

And Brunswick Landing Realty Development Corporation 
signed the following new User Agreements for space in 
TechPlace in FY 2017:

 ATOL Aircraft Company

 Go Babe

 Maine PTAC

 Mobile Technology

 New England Oceanographic Laboratory

Awards

On January 15, MRRA received an award from Southern Midcoast Chamber of Commerce when it had designated 
TechPlace as The Best New Business in Southern Midcoast Maine.

On June 15, MRRA received a Visionary Achievement Award from Tedford Housing of Brunswick for its work and 
leadership on creating a providing over $600,000 to support the unmet needs of the homeless in the region.

Overview of the Financial Statements.

Under Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34, the Authority presents its basic financial 
statements as a government wide financial statement and all activities are accounted for within a single proprietary 
(enterprise) fund.
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The financial statements report information about the Authority using full accrual accounting methods as utilized 
by similar business activities in the private sector.  The financial statements include the balance sheet; statement
of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position; statement of cash flows; and notes to the financial statements.

The balance sheet presents the financial position of the Authority on a full accrual basis of accounting with the 
capital assets recorded at an estimated historical cost as actual cost records were not available from the Navy. The 
balance sheet presents information on all of the Authority’s assets and liabilities, with the difference reported as 
net position.  Over time, increases and decreases in net position are one indicator of whether the financial position 
of the Authority is improving or deteriorating.  A positive change in net position indicates the Authority’s financial 
position is improving, while a negative change may indicate that the financial position is deteriorating.

While the balance sheet provides information about the nature and amount of resources and obligations at year-
end, the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position presents the results of the business activities 
over the course of the fiscal year and information as to how the net position changed during the year.  All changes 
in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the 
timing of the related cash flows.  

The statement of cash flows presents changes in cash and cash equivalents, resulting from operational, investing, 
and capital and related financing activities.  This statement presents cash receipts and cash disbursement 
information, without consideration of the earnings event, when an obligation arises, or depreciation of capital 
assets.

The notes to the financial statements provide required disclosures and other information that are essential to a full 
understanding of material data provided in the statements.  The notes present information about the Authority’s 
accounting policies, significant account balances and activities, material risks, obligations, commitments, 
contingencies and subsequent events, if any.  

The financial statements were prepared by the Deputy Director from the detailed books and records of the 
Authority, which were audited by independent auditors.

Summary of Organization and Business

The Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority, a component unit of the State of Maine, is a municipal 
corporation created by Maine law, 5 MRSA §13083-G, and charged with the responsibility to acquire and manage 
property at the former Naval Air Station Brunswick (NAS Brunswick) and the Topsham Annex and to facilitate the 
rapid redevelopment of properties in order to recover from economic and employment loss as result of base 
closure. The first meeting of the MRRA Board of Trustees was held on September 27, 2007.  The Board elected 
officers and adopted a set of bylaws for the organization at that time.  

The bylaws direct the Board of Trustees to adopt an annual budget, provide for an annual audit, appoint various
committees, and hire an Executive Director.  The Executive Director is the chief executive officer and is responsible 
for carrying out the policies of the Trustees and overseeing the daily operation of MRRA and appointing staff.  In 
addition to the Executive Director, MRRA employs eleven individuals.

The Board is authorized by statute to create other organizations and entities necessary to implement the 
redevelopment plans for NAS Brunswick and the Topsham Annex.   The Board has authorized the creation of 
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Brunswick Landing Realty Development Corporation, the Brunswick Landing MHC USA LLC, the Brunswick Economic 
Development Corporation, and the Midcoast Charitable Foundation of Maine.  The activity and financial 
transactions of these entities are included and made a part of this report.

Financial Analysis

The balance sheet presents information on all of MRRA’s assets and liabilities, with the difference between the two 
reported as net position. The table below is a condensed summary of assets, liabilities, and net position for the 
year ending June 30, 2017.

Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority
Condensed Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2017

2017 2016 Change % Change

Current and other assets $ 7,250,174           10,487,548         (3,237,374)          -30.9%
Capital assets 128,812,952       127,422,863      1,390,089            1.1%

Total assets 136,063,126       137,910,411      (1,847,285)          -1.3%

Current liabilities 3,315,145           3,981,704           (666,559)              -16.7%
Long-term liabilities 14,265,000         14,483,836         (218,836)              -1.5%

Total liabilities 17,580,145         18,465,540         (885,395)              -4.8%

Net investment in capital assets 114,330,652       112,929,413      1,401,239            1.2%
Unrestricted 4,152,329           6,515,458           (2,363,129)          -36.3%

Total net position $ 118,482,981       119,444,871      (961,890)              -0.8%

Original cost information for the former Navy facilities was not available.  MRRA had to develop a methodology for 
determining the value for fixed assets.  In 2006, the Navy provided a schedule of the estimated cost of replacement 
based on standard engineering estimates prepared by the Naval Facilities Engineering Command (NAVFAC) office. 
Most of the buildings were valued at the replacement cost in 2006 dollars.  For other buildings, MRRA used its best 
professional judgment based on the estimated cost to replace on a per square foot basis in 2006 dollars.   

As properties were offered to the marketplace and sold, MRRA learned more and more about their value in the 
civilian marketplace.  MRRA also had the benefit of eight independent market appraisals on buildings subsequently
sold. From these appraisals, MRRA learned more about the current market value of industrial, commercial, and 
professional office facilities in the region.  We learned that MRRA’s current capital asset values of land and buildings
were overstated, because we had relied so much on the Navy’s estimated cost to replace schedule and the single 
purpose nature of many Navy buildings. 

In 2014, MRRA used the recently obtained market appraisal information and the information in the comparable 
sales approach section of the appraisals to establish a more realistic estimate of square foot value for buildings and 
adjusted the balance sheet accordingly.  MRRA used the average of the square foot sales price for all of the 
properties within the property sales comparable approach section of the appraisals and the value set by the 
appraiser for each subject building of the appraisal to help set a value for all buildings by building types.  The 
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information garnered from the appraisals did not cover all of the styles and types of buildings at Brunswick Landing, 
so MRRA used information from CBRE Boulos Company and the Dunham Group.  The properties used from the 
CBRE Boulos Company and Dunham Group websites were asking prices, not actual sales data.  

This revaluation reduced building values at Brunswick Landing and the Topsham Commerce Park by $7,788,116.   
The accumulated depreciation schedule was also adjusted as of July 1, 2013, a reduction of $276,778.64.

This fiscal year the Navy transferred 2.47 acres of land and one building through a Lease in Furtherance of 
Conveyance: building 19 (former carpentry shop) and a parking lot.  All of these assets were transferred net of 
additional debt.  

The Purchase and Sale Agreement included a $25,000 good faith deposit, a $3.0 million ten year note that was 
scheduled to amortize on October 1, 2017 with a balloon payment in 2023 of $1,650,000, provided that all property 
is transferred by October 1, 2017.  The $3.0 million was retired by MRRA on June 5, 2014.

This past fiscal year MRRA sold a total of 8.15 acres and three buildings totaling 10,559 square feet.

The Combined Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position presents information on MRRA’s 
operating activity.  The table below is a condensed summary of the revenue, expenses, and changes in net position
for the period ending June 30, 2017.

Condensed Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position

June 30, 2017

2017 2016 Change % Change

Operating revenues $ 5,854,797          5,634,228           220,569            3.9%

Operating expenses 10,932,185        12,263,755        (1,331,570)       -10.9%

Operating loss (5,077,388)         (6,629,527)         1,552,139         -23.4%

Nonoperating revenues 4,809,965          7,431,908           (2,621,943)       -35.3%

Nonoperating expenses 937,627             2,501,570           (1,563,943)       -62.5%

Nonoperating income 3,872,338          4,930,338           (1,058,000)       -21.5%

Loss before contributions,

transfers, and impairments (1,205,050)         (1,699,189)         494,139            29.1%

Contributed capital 243,160             787,085              (543,925)           -69.1%

Impairment of capital assets -                          (243,971)             243,971            -100.0%

Change in net position $ (961,890)            (1,156,075)         194,185            -16.8%

This statement records a non-cash expense of $4,546,664 for depreciation as an Operating Expense (see page 16)
for the assets that MRRA held this year.   If the unfunded depreciation expense were removed, the Income before 
Operating Transfers and Contributed Capital would be $3,341,614.
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At the end of the year, total net position exceeded $118.4 million.

Condensed Schedule of Operating Expenses – Budget to Actual
Year Ending June 30, 2017

Budget Actual Variance % Variance

Personnel services 985,800$           1,018,932           (33,132)           -3.3%
Employee benefits 321,100             310,211              10,889             3.5%
Supplies 246,100             239,890              6,210               2.6%
Professional services 240,100             259,144              (19,044)           -7.3%
Property services 2,401,000          3,321,520           (920,520)         -27.7%
Other purchased services 208,700             295,509              (86,809)           -29.4%
Bad debt expense 70,700                324,424              (253,724)         -78.2%
Capital outlay 2,600                  56,603                (54,003)           -95.4%
Debt service 56,200                195,158              (138,958)         -71.2%
Transfers to subsidiaries 123,400             99,733                23,667             23.7%
Transfers to sinking fund 18,000                -                           18,000             100.0%

Total operating expenses 4,673,700$        6,121,124           (1,447,424)      -23.6%

Other Financial Information

There are no outstanding judgments or litigation against the Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority.

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of MRRA’s finance and to demonstrate MRRA’s 
accountability for the grants it receives.   

If you have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact Jeffrey K. Jordan, Deputy 
Director, Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority, 15 Terminal Road, Brunswick, Maine or call (207) 798-6512.
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MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Combined Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2017

2017

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,734,074            

Receivables:

Grant receivables 602,854               

Tenant and other receivables (net of allowance of $515,356) 1,170,587            

Notes receivable (net of allowance of $946,425) 617,296               

Prepaid expenses 16,864                 

Total current assets 7,141,675            

Noncurrent assets:

Other assets:

Security deposits 93,568                 

Restricted cash 14,931                 

Total other assets 108,499               

Capital assets:

Capital assets not being depreciated 35,123,365          

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 93,689,587          

Net capital assets 128,812,952       

        Total noncurrent assets 128,921,451       

Total assets 136,063,126       

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:

Line of credit 1,115,829            

Accounts payable 1,405,663            

Accrued expenses 166,905               

Contract obligations payable 4,792                    

Unearned revenue 305,293               

Security deposits 99,363                 

Current portion of notes payable 217,300               

Total current liabilities 3,315,145            

Noncurrent liabilities:

Notes payable 14,265,000          

Total noncurrent liabilities 14,265,000          

Total liabilities 17,580,145          

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 114,330,652       

Unrestricted 4,006,487            

Unrestricted - component units 145,842               

Total net position $ 118,482,981       

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Statement 2

MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

2017

Operating revenues:

Rental income and fees $ 2,508,789              

Common area maintenance fees 75,093                    

Utilities assessment 2,792,511              

Transient aircraft and fuel flowage fees 49,097                    

Federal grants 429,307                  

Total operating revenues 5,854,797              

Operating expenses:

Salaries, taxes, and benefits 1,329,143              

Supplies 247,831                  

Professional services 273,756                  

Property services 3,450,657              

Other purchased services 320,609                  

Bad debt expense 297,070                  

Taxes and fees 16,836                    

Capital outlay 449,619                  

Depreciation 4,546,664              

Total operating expenses 10,932,185            

Operating loss (5,077,388)             

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):

Federal grants 3,758,866              

State grants 229,941                  

Miscellaneous revenue 631,505                  

Miscellaneous expense (110,091)                

Navy covenant (183,884)                

Gain on sale of property 63,438                    

Bad debt expense - notes receivable (25,503)                   

Interest income - notes receivable 98,726                    

Investment interest income 27,489                    

Interest expense (618,149)                

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 3,872,338              

Loss before contributions (1,205,050)             

Capital contributions 243,160                  

Change in net position (961,890)                

Net position, beginning of year, as restated 119,444,871          

Net position, end of year $ 118,482,981          

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Statement 3

MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Combined Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

2017

Cash flows from operating activities:

Receipts from customers and users $ 6,409,583            

Payments to suppliers (4,992,037)           

Payments to employees (1,327,882)           

Receipt of federal and state grants 534,157               

Net cash provided by operating activities 623,821               

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:

Issuance of notes receivable (250,000)              

Collections on notes receivable 49,324                 

Interest collected on notes receivable 98,726                 

Proceeds from line of credit 1,600,000            

Repayments on line of credit (1,611,026)           

Net cash used in noncapital financing activities (112,976)              

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:

Purchase of capital assets (5,712,579)           

Proceeds from sale of capital assets 528,537               

Receipt of federal and state grants 6,200,584            

Principal payments on long-term debt (11,150)                

Interest payments on long-term debt (619,815)              

Navy covenant payment (1,153,379)           

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (767,802)              

 Cash flows from investing activities: 

Interest income 27,489                 

Net cash provided by investing activities 27,489                 

Net decrease in cash (229,468)              

Cash at beginning of year 4,978,473            

Cash at end of year   $ 4,749,005            

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash provided by

operating activities:

Operating loss $ (5,077,388)           

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 4,546,664            

Bad debt expense 297,070               

Miscellaneous revenue 631,505               

Miscellaneous expense (110,091)              

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in noncapital grant receivables 104,850               

(Increase) decrease in tenant and other receivables 48,693                 

(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses 470,289               

(Decrease) increase in accounts payable - trade (491,041)              

(Decrease) increase in accrued expenses 2,111                    

(Decrease) increase in contract obligations payable (104,587)              

(Decrease) increase in unearned revenue 305,067               

(Decrease) increase in security deposits 679                       

Net cash provided by operating activities 623,821               

Noncash capital and related financing activities:
Capital contributions - capital assets 243,160               

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reporting Entity - The Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority (MRRA) was created by an Act of the State 
of Maine in 2005, by the State of Maine Legislature and is charged with the responsibility to acquire and 
manage Brunswick Naval Air Station (NASB) properties in both Brunswick and Topsham, Maine and implement 
the approved Reuse Master Plans for each.  MRRA is governed by an eleven member Board of Trustees.  The 
accompanying financial statements present MRRA and its component units, entities for which the government 
is considered to be financially accountable.  Blended component units are, in substance, part of the primary 
government’s operations, even though they are legally separate entities.  The following are considered blended 
component units and along with MRRA are collectively referred to as the Authority:

Brunswick Landing MHC USA, LLC was formed on July 11, 2011 to build a manufacturing building. 

Brunswick Landing Economic Development Corporation, LLC was formed June 7, 2011 to assist in the creation 
of business and to aid economic growth in the Midcoast Maine region.

Brunswick Landing Realty Development Corporation was formed on June 16, 2011 to assist in the acquisition 
and development of land and buildings in the Midcoast Maine region.

Midcoast Charitable Foundation of Maine was organized on July 6, 2011 to receive and hold charitable funds 
and distribute the income for charitable purposes to organizations serving individuals and families in the 
Midcoast Maine region.

The Authority is considered to be a component unit of the State of Maine.

Basis of Accounting - The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined by the applicable 
measurement focus and basis of accounting.  Measurement focus indicates the type of resources being 
measured such as current financial resources or economic resources.  The basis of accounting indicates the 
timing of transactions or events for recognition in the financial statements.

The financial statements of the Authority are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and
accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.

The Authority distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  Operating revenues 
and expenses generally result from charges to tenants for the lease or license of property and providing goods 
and services in connection with the Authority’s principal ongoing operations of the implementation of the 
Reuse Master Plans for Brunswick and Topsham properties and management of properties at Brunswick 
landing, the former NASB. The Authority also receives an operating grant from the United States Department of 
Defense.  All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and 
expenses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

Cash and Cash Equivalents - For purposes of cash flow, the Authority considers all highly liquid investments 
(including restricted assets) with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash - The predecessor entity to MRRA entered into an agreement with a local association to 
contribute $560 per developable acre transferred from the U.S. Navy to a homeless assistance trust fund.
MRRA is to act as fiduciary of this trust. In accordance with this agreement, MRRA began contributing to this 
trust in 2011 upon the transfer of property from the U.S. Navy. At June 30, 2017, there was $14,931 of 
restricted cash related to the trust fund.  

Accounts Receivable - The Authority uses the allowance method to account for uncollectible accounts 
receivable and notes receivable.  The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on prior years' experience and 
management's analysis of possible bad debts.  At June 30, 2017, the allowance for uncollectible accounts 
receivable was $515,356 and $946,425 for notes receivable.  

Capital Assets - Capital assets purchased or constructed by the Authority are recorded at cost.  

Capital assets previously acquired through contributions from the U.S. Navy were initially capitalized using the 
U.S. Navy’s schedule of estimated cost of replacement based on standard engineering estimates prepared by 
the Naval Facilities Engineering Command Office.  The estimated replacement costs were then deflated using 
the Implicit Price Deflator for Gross National Products for structures prepared by the U.S. Bureau of Economic 
Analysis back to the year of construction.  After several sales of former U.S. Navy capital assets and market 
appraisals were performed, it was determined that this method was not representative of the true cost of these 
assets in a civilian marketplace. The Authority performed an analysis in 2014 and revalued these assets based 
on estimated market value.  Any future capital assets transferred to the Authority by the U.S. Navy will be 
valued based on the estimated market value method.

The Authority maintains a capitalization threshold of $5,000.  Routine maintenance and repairs are charged to 
expense.  Expenses, which materially increase values, change capacities, or extend useful lives are capitalized.  
The provision for depreciation has been computed by the use of the straight-line method at rates intended to 
amortize the cost of the related assets over the following estimated useful lives:

  Assets Years
Land improvements 7-11
Buildings and building improvements 3-45
Machinery and equipment 2-7
Furniture and fixtures 4-5
Vehicles 4-5
Infrastructure 5-50 

Accrued Compensated Absences - Under terms of personnel policies, the Authority grants vacation and sick 
time benefits.  These benefits are accrued as a liability as the benefits are earned if the employee’s rights to 
receive compensation are attributable to services already rendered.

Unearned Revenue - Unearned revenue consists of lease revenue for subsequent periods, which was billed and 
collected as of the balance sheet date.  
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED

Contract Obligations Payable - Contract obligations payable reflect the difference between the value of the 
required contributions to the homeless assistance trust, which are a function of the value of capital 
contributions received from the United States Navy, and the value of payments made to eligible recipients. 
Contract obligations payable are recognized liabilities until the Authority fulfills its obligations to eligible 
recipients.

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
certain reported amounts and disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from these estimates.

Income Taxes - MRRA qualifies as a tax exempt organization under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code 
and, accordingly, its income is not subject to any state or federal income taxes.  Brunswick Landing MHC USA, 
LLC, Brunswick Landing Economic Development Corporation, LLC, Brunswick Landing Realty Development 
Corporation, and Midcoast Charitable Foundation of Maine file tax returns under the Internal Revenue Code. 

DEPOSITS

Custodial credit risk - This is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Authority’s deposits may not be 
returned to it. The Authority currently does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. As of June 30, 
2017, $1,020,516 of the Authority’s bank balance of $4,794,800 was insured by the FDIC and $3,774,284 was 
collateralized by securities held in the name of the Authority by the financial institution’s trust department.  

Interest rate risk - The Authority currently does not have a deposit policy for interest rate risk.

NOTES RECEIVABLE

As of June 30, 2017, the Authority had the following notes receivable:

Issue Amount Interest Maturity Amount
Date Issued Rate Date Outstanding

SaviLinx, LLC 2013 $    50,000 5.00% 2019 12,790
Savi Systems, LLC 2013 250,000 4.25% 2019 237,741
Kestrel Aircraft Company 2014 312,277 6.00% 2016 312,277
Kestrel Aircraft Company 2014 50,000 6.00% 2016 50,000
Family Focus 2015 40,000 5.00% 2020 19,910
Firehouse Realty, LLC 2015 35,000 6.75% 2035 33,305
Frosty’s Donuts, LLC 2015 50,000 5.00% 2019 36,062
MVP Aero 2016 50,000 5.00% 2021 45,542
New Beet Market 2016 50,000 5.00% 2021 47,041
Brunswick Naval Museum 2016 220,000 0.00% 2026 220,000
Wayfair Maine, LLC 2016 300,000 2.50% 2023 300,000
Flight Deck Brewing 2017 50,000 5.25% 2022 49,053
TBW, LLC 2017 200,000 5.00% 2022 200,000
Allowance for doubtful accounts (946,425)

Total notes receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts) $ 617,296
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NOTES RECEIVABLE, CONTINUED

The notes were provided to aid in job development and facilitate business growth in the region.  The Savi 
Systems, LLC note is part of a conduit debt arrangement where the Authority has acted as an intermediary and 
obtained third party financing from the Maine Rural Development Authority with the same terms as the note 
issued to Savi Systems, LLC. 

The Brunswick Naval Museum and Wayfair Maine, LLC notes are 100% forgivable provided certain contract 
terms are met.  The Authority has anticipated full compliance with the contract terms on each note and has 
recognized an allowance for doubtful accounts for each note equal to the entire balance outstanding.

CAPITAL ASSETS

The following is a summary of the changes in capital assets from June 30, 2017:

Restated
Balance Balance
6/30/16 Additions Dispositions 6/30/17

Capital assets not being depreciated:
  Land $ 32,757,922 69,160 228,200 32,598,882
  Construction in progress 4,285,249 4,456,767 6,217,533 2,524,483
  Total capital assets not being depreciated 37,043,171 4,525,927 6,445,733 35,123,365

Capital assets being depreciated:
  Land improvements 9,180,960 949,073 -   10,130,033
  Buildings and building improvements 73,421,034 6,199,987 261,744 79,359,277
  Machinery and equipment 1,605,282 4,500 -   1,609,782
  Furniture and fixtures 35,891 -   7,928 27,963
  Vehicles 90,411 27,324 25,958 91,777

Infrastructure 23,549,822 912,573 -   24,462,395
  Total capital assets being depreciated 107,883,400 8,093,457 295,630 115,681,227

Less accumulated depreciation for:  
  Land improvements 3,402,343 760,848 -   4,163,191
  Buildings and building improvements 9,188,879 2,678,127 27,006 11,840,000
  Machinery and equipment 535,748 127,707 -   663,455
  Furniture and fixtures 35,891 -   7,928 27,963
  Vehicles 74,839 12,369 23,794 63,414
  Infrastructure 4,266,004 967,613 -   5,233,617
  Total accumulated depreciation 17,503,704 4,546,664 58,728 21,991,640

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 90,379,696 3,546,793 236,902 93,689,587

Capital assets, net $ 127,422,867 8,072,720 6,682,635 128,812,952
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LONG-TERM DEBT

The following is a summary of long-term liability transactions of the Authority for the year ended June 30, 2017: 

Beginning Ending Due within
balance Additions Deletions balance one year

Notes payable $ 14,493,450 -   11,150 14,482,300 217,300
Accrued compensated absences 58,228 20,453 -   78,681 -      

Total long-term liabilities $ 14,551,678 20,453 11,150 14,560,981 217,300

The following is a summary of the long-term debt payable at June 30, 2017:

Amount Maturity Interest Balance
         Issue issued date rate 6/30/17

Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority:
Note payable $      250,000 2018 4.25% 217,300

Brunswick Landing MHC USA, LLC:
Note payable 10,319,583 2023 5.00% 10,319,583
Note payable 3,945,417 2047 2.13-4.04% 3,945,417

Total notes payable 14,482,300

Less current portion 217,300

       Total long-term portion $ 14,265,000

Requirements for the repayment of the outstanding debt are as follows:

         Total debt
Principal Interest service

2018 $      217,300 609,239 826,539
2019 2,263,223 555,219 2,818,442
2020 536,619 477,519 1,014,138
2021 674,941 451,995 1,126,936
2022 709,635 423,955 1,133,590

2023-2027 6,844,483 811,648 7,656,131
2028-2032 -   653,941 653,941
2033-2037 -   653,941 653,941
2038-2042 -   653,941 653,941
2043-2047 3,236,099 599,446 3,835,545

Totals $ 14,482,300 5,890,844 20,373,144
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LINES OF CREDIT

The Authority maintains a line of credit with Mechanics Savings Bank for $500,000. In June 2013, the Authority 
entered the line of credit agreement for a two-year term and has extended the term annually thereafter to 
October 3, 2017. The variable interest rate is adjusted daily based on Wall Street Journal prime rate (4.25% at 
June 30, 2017) plus 1%. As of June 30, 2017, there was $37,500 outstanding under the line of credit. 

The Authority maintains a line of credit with Bath Savings Institute for $1,500,000. During 2017, the Authority 
renewed the line of credit and extended the term to November 30, 2017. The variable interest rate is adjusted 
daily based on Wall Street Journal prime rate (4.25% at June 30, 2017). As of June 30, 2017, there was no 
outstanding balance under the line of credit.   

The Authority maintains a non-interest bearing line of credit with the Maine Department of Transportation for 
$1,300,000 to fund operating deficits of the Brunswick Executive Airport for the first five years of operation 
(2011-2015). The line of credit was extended in 2016 and expires June 30, 2019. Funding for any one individual 
year cannot exceed $300,000. Repayment of funds disbursed under the line of credit begins in 2016 at a rate of 
15% of each annual surplus for the Brunswick Executive Airport for 2016-2018 and 20% of each annual surplus
for the Brunswick Executive Airport beginning in 2019 and continuing until all funds have been repaid.  As of 
June 30, 2017, there was $1,078,329 outstanding under the line of credit. 

NET POSITION

Net position represents assets less liabilities.  Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of notes and capital leases payable and adding 
back any unspent proceeds.  Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on the 
use of funds either through the enabling legislations adopted by the Authority or through external restrictions 
imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other governments. The Authority’s net investment in 
capital assets was calculated as follows at June 30, 2017:

Capital assets $ 150,804,592
Accumulated depreciation (21,991,640)
Notes payable (14,482,300)

      Net investment in capital assets $ 114,330,652

MRRA Board Meeting - Audit

47



MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements, Continued

21

OPERATING LEASES

The Authority has entered into several lease agreements to rent buildings, parcels of land, a golf course, and 
utility poles. Several leases are month-to-month arrangements while others do not terminate until February 
2036. Rental payments from tenants range from $525 - $97,474 per month based on the amount of space 
rented. For the year ended June 30, 2017, rental income amounted to $2,508,789.

Future minimum rental income under the rental leases are as follows:

2018 $ 1,802,930
2019 1,813,026
2020 1,754,050
2021 1,309,280
2022 1,278,759
Thereafter 25,603,697

Total $ 33,561,742

PENSION PLAN

Full-time and part-time employees working twenty hours or more per week are eligible to participate in the 
Authority's Section 401(a) deferred compensation program. The plan covers all of the Authority's employees 
and requires that participating employees contribute 4% of earnable compensation to the plan. The Authority 
contributes 8% of earnable compensation of each employee to the plan. Election to participate in the plan is 
irrevocable and may only cease should the employee terminate employment with the Authority. The Authority 
contributed $76,211 to the plan for the year ended June 30, 2017. This program is administered by the ICMA 
Retirement Corporation. 

Employees may also voluntarily participate in the Authority's Section 457(b) deferred compensation plan. The 
plan allows qualified employees to authorize the Authority to withhold portions of their wages on a pre-tax 
and/or post-tax basis. The earnings on these investments are not subject to current state or federal taxes. 
However, any pre-tax investments and all earnings are subject to state and federal taxes upon withdrawal. This 
program is also administered by the ICMA Retirement Corporation.

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS FROM THE UNITED STATES NAVY

During 2017, the United States Navy transferred ownership of capital assets, which included land and buildings. 
The capital assets transferred had an estimated value of $243,160 at the date of the transfer.
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CONSTRUCTION COMMITMENTS

During 2017, in order to facilitate economic development in the area, MRRA entered into several construction
agreements.  The significant contracts remaining at June 30, 2017 are listed below:

Contract Percentage Billed Balance
Total Complete to Date Retainage Remaining

Hangar 6 doors $ 156,100 94.66% 147,764 -   8,336
BMX hangar improvements 426,000 69.89% 297,742 -   128,258
Sewer improvements 730,647 77.77% 568,236 63,137 162,411

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

As part of the terms of the purchase and sale agreement between the Authority and the United States of 
America (the Government) for the transfer of the former NASB, the Authority was required to enter into a 
$3,000,000 loan agreement (paid off in 2014). The Authority will also be required to pay the Government 25% 
of real estate proceeds received for the sale, transfer, conveyance, assignment, or lease of any portion of the 
property transferred by the Government in excess of $7,000,000 and up to $37,400,000. If the real estate 
proceeds are in excess of $37,400,000 and less than $42,400,000, the Authority is not required to pay the 
government any portion of the proceeds. If the real estate proceeds exceed $42,400,000, the Authority is 
required to pay the government 50% of all gross real estate proceeds. These requirements will be in effect for 
23 years, starting after the initial closing.  The amount due under these terms as of June 30, 2017 was $359,860; 
$175,976 of which relates to prior year sales that has not been remitted.

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT

In the prior year, capital asset activity of the Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority (MRRA) was omitted.
Management elected to restate the prior year financials to include the additional amounts capitalized and the 
related depreciation.  Adjustments to net position as of July 1, 2016 were as follows:

MRRA Combined

Net position, July 1, 2016, as previously reported    $  118,779,891 119,014,361
Adjustment to bring on capital assets and related depreciation 430,510 430,510

             Net position, July 1, 2016, as restated  $  119,210,401 119,444,871
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In July 2017, the Executive Committee accepted a grant from the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) in the 
amount of $126,803 to rehabilitate the runway and adjacent pavement for Brunswick Executive Airport.  There 
is a required match of $14,090, with the State of Maine and the Authority each contributing $7,045.  

In August 2017, the Executive Committee accepted another grant from the Federal Aviation Administration 
(FAA) in the amount of $2,014,200 to rehabilitate Hangars 5 and 6 at the Brunswick Executive Airport.  There is 
a required match of $223,800, with the State of Maine contributing $201,420 of the match and the Authority 
contributing the remaining $22,380 of the match.  

On April 8, 2011, the Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority entered a twenty-year lease with Kestrel 
Aircraft Company for 93,000 square feet in Hangar 6 at the Brunswick Executive Airport.  Following the issuance 
of a Notice of Default on June 7, 2017 and the failure to cure by Kestrel Aircraft, MRRA terminated the lease on 
October 2, 2017 by action of a Forcible Entry and Detainer approved by the Sagadahoc District Court of Maine.  
At September 30, 2017, Kestrel entities owed MRRA a total of $896,340.78 of which $657,426.57 had been 
recorded as an expense to the Reserve for Uncollectable Leases and Loans.

On January 11, 2011, the Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority entered into a five-year lease agreement 
with two five-year extension renewal options with Maine Tool and Machine for building 553, the former airfield 
support building.  On April 14, 2017, MRRA issued a thirty-day termination and notice to quit for the leased 
space, as Maine Tool and Machine had been placed on month-to-month lease at the termination of the first 
five-year lease term.  By agreement, Maine Tool agreed to vacate building 553 by September 30, 2017.   At 
September 30, 2017, Maine Tool and Machine owed MRRA a total of $128,854.03, of which $98,942.56 had 
been recorded as an expense to the Reserve for Uncollectable Leases and Loans.

MRRA Board Meeting - Audit

50



Exhibit 1

MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Combining Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2017

Brunswick Brunswick

Midcoast Landing Landing Midcoast

Regional Brunswick Economic Realty Charitable

Redevelopment Landing Development Development Foundation Internal

Authority MHC USA LLC Corporation Corporation of Maine Eliminations Totals

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,493,414 178,404             2,250 57,506 2,500                      -                      4,734,074            

Receivables:

Grant receivables 602,854 -                          -                          -                          -                               -                      602,854               

Tenant and other receivables (net of

allowance of $515,356) 1,170,871 -                      -                      86,302 -                               (86,586)         1,170,587            

Notes receivable (net of allowance of $946,425) 617,296 -                          -                          -                          -                               -                      617,296               

Prepaid expenses 13,837 3,027 -                          -                      -                               -                      16,864                 

Total current assets 6,898,272            181,431             2,250                 143,808             2,500                      (86,586)         7,141,675            

Noncurrent assets:

Other assets:

Security deposits 93,568 -                          -                          -                          -                               -                      93,568                 

Restricted cash 14,931 -                          -                          -                          -                               -                      14,931                 

Total other assets 108,499               -                          -                          -                          -                               -                      108,499               

Capital assets:

Capital assets not being depreciated 35,123,365 -                          -                          -                          -                               -                      35,123,365          

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 79,889,636 13,706,995       -                      92,956               -                               -                      93,689,587          

Net capital assets 115,013,001       13,706,995       -                          92,956               -                               -                      128,812,952       

        Total noncurrent assets 115,121,500       13,706,995       -                          92,956               -                               -                      128,921,451       

Total assets 122,019,772       13,888,426       2,250                 236,764             2,500                      (86,586)         136,063,126       

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:

Line of credit 1,115,829 -                          -                          -                          -                               -                      1,115,829            

Accounts payable - trade 833,556 -                          -                          17,432 -                               (86,586)         764,402               

Accounts payable - construction/retainage 641,261 -                          -                          -                          -                               -                      641,261               

Accrued expenses 17,150 -                          -                          -                          -                               -                      17,150                 

Accrued payroll and related liabilities 22,724 -                          -                          -                          -                               -                      22,724                 

Accrued compensated absences 78,681 -                          -                          -                          -                               -                      78,681                 

Accrued interest -                            48,350 -                          -                          -                               -                      48,350                 

Security deposits 83,143 -                          -                          16,220 -                               -                      99,363                 

Contract obligations payable 4,792 -                          -                          -                          -                               -                      4,792                    

Unearned revenue 203,148 97,474               -                          4,671 -                               -                      305,293               

Current portion of notes payable 217,300               -                          -                          -                          -                               -                      217,300               

Total current liabilities 3,217,584            145,824             -                          38,323               -                               (86,586)         3,315,145            

Noncurrent liabilities:

Notes payable -                            14,265,000       -                          -                          -                               -                      14,265,000          

Total noncurrent liabilities -                            14,265,000       -                          -                          -                               -                      14,265,000          

Total liabilities 3,217,584            14,410,824       -                          38,323               -                               (86,586)         17,580,145         

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 114,795,701       (558,005)            -                          92,956               -                               -                      114,330,652       

Unrestricted 4,006,487            -                          -                          -                          -                               -                      4,006,487            

Unrestricted - component units -                            35,607               2,250                 105,485             2,500                      -                      145,842               

Total net position $ 118,802,188       (522,398)           2,250                 198,441             2,500                      -                      118,482,981       
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Exhibit 2

MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Combining Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Brunswick Brunswick

Midcoast Landing Landing Midcoast

Regional Brunswick Economic Realty Charitable

Redevelopment Landing Development Development Foundation

Authority MHC USA LLC Corporation Corporation of Maine Totals

Operating revenues:

Rental income and fees $ 1,074,266               1,169,690      -                      264,833 -                      2,508,789      

Common area maintenance fees 75,093                     -                      -                      -                      -                      75,093           

Utilities assessment 2,792,511               -                      -                      -                      -                      2,792,511      

Transient aircraft and fuel flowage fees 49,097                     -                      -                      -                      -                      49,097           

Federal grants 429,307                  -                      -                      -                      -                      429,307         

Total operating revenues 4,420,274               1,169,690      -                      264,833         -                      5,854,797      

Operating expenses:

Salaries, taxes, and benefits 1,329,143               -                      -                      -                      -                      1,329,143      

Supplies 239,890                  -                      -                      7,941 -                      247,831         

Professional services 259,144                  1,784             -                      12,828 -                      273,756         

Property services 3,321,520               13,307 -                      115,830 -                      3,450,657      

Other purchased services 295,509                  9,693             -                      13,507 1,900             320,609         

Bad debt expense (recovery) 298,921 -                      -                      (1,851)            -                      297,070         

Taxes and fees -                               -                      -                      16,836 -                      16,836           

Capital outlay 449,619 -                      -                      -                      -                      449,619         

Depreciation 4,008,483 527,192 -                      10,989 -                      4,546,664      

Total operating expenses 10,202,229             551,976         -                      176,080         1,900             10,932,185    

Operating income (loss) (5,781,955)              617,714         -                      88,753           (1,900)            (5,077,388)    

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):

Federal grants 3,758,866               -                      -                      -                      -                      3,758,866      

State grants 229,941                  -                      -                      -                      -                      229,941         

Miscellaneous revenue 616,176                  -                      -                      15,329 -                      631,505         

Miscellaneous expense (104,656)                 -                      -                      (5,435)            -                      (110,091)        

Navy covenant (183,884)                 -                      -                      -                      -                      (183,884)        

Gain on sale of property 63,438                     -                      -                      -                      -                      63,438           

Bad debt expense - notes receivable (25,503)                   -                      -                      -                      -                      (25,503)          

Interest income - notes receivable 98,726                     -                      -                      -                      -                      98,726           

Investment interest income 27,489                     -                      -                      -                      -                      27,489           

Interest expense (11,274)                   (606,875)        -                      -                      -                      (618,149)        

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 4,469,319               (606,875)        -                      9,894             -                      3,872,338      

Income (loss) before contributions

   and transfers (1,312,636)              10,839           -                      98,647           (1,900)            (1,205,050)    

Transfers in (out) 661,263 (543,441)        -                  (117,822)        -                      -                      

Capital contributions 243,160 -                      -                      -                      -                      243,160         

Change in net position (408,213)                 (532,602)        -                      (19,175)          (1,900)            (961,890)        

Net position, beginning of year, as restated 119,210,401           10,204           2,250             217,616         4,400             119,444,871

Net position, end of year $ 118,802,188           (522,398)       2,250             198,441         2,500             118,482,981
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Exhibit 3

MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Combining Statements of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Brunswick Brunswick

Midcoast Landing Landing Midcoast

Regional Brunswick Economic Realty Charitable

Redevelopment Landing Development Development Foundation

Authority MHC USA LLC Corporation Corporation of Maine Totals

Cash flows from operating activities:

Receipts from customers and users $ 4,846,749       1,267,164     -                     295,670         -                     6,409,583     

Payments to suppliers (4,781,084)      (25,027)         (250)               (185,676)       -                     (4,992,037)    

Payments to employees (1,327,882)      -                     -                     -                     -                     (1,327,882)    

Receipt of federal and state grants 534,157          -                     -                     -                     -                     534,157         

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (728,060)         1,242,137     (250)               109,994         -                     623,821         

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:

Issuance of notes receivable (250,000)         -                     -                     -                     -                     (250,000)       

Collections on notes receivable 49,324             -                     -                     -                     -                     49,324           

Interest collected on notes receivable 98,726             -                     -                     -                     -                     98,726           

Proceeds from line of credit 1,600,000       -                     -                     -                     -                     1,600,000     

Repayments on line of credit (1,611,026)      -                     -                     -                     -                     (1,611,026)    

Transfers (to) from related companies 736,352          (544,460)       -                     (191,892)       -                     -                     

Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital financing activities 623,376          (544,460)       -                     (191,892)       -                     (112,976)       

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:

Purchase of capital assets (5,699,463)      -                     -                     (13,116)         -                     (5,712,579)    

Proceeds from sale of capital assets 528,537          -                     -                     -                     -                     528,537         

Receipt of federal and state grants 6,200,584       -                     -                     -                     -                     6,200,584     

Principal payments on long-term debt (11,150)           -                     -                     -                     -                     (11,150)         

Interest payments on long-term debt (11,274)           (608,541)       -                     -                     -                     (619,815)       

Navy covenant payment (1,153,379)      -                     -                     -                     -                     (1,153,379)    

Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing activities (146,145)         (608,541)       -                     (13,116)         -                     (767,802)       

 Cash flows from investing activities: 

Interest income 27,489             -                     -                     -                     -                     27,489           

Net cash provided by investing activities 27,489             -                     -                     -                     -                     27,489           

Net increase (decrease) in cash (223,340)         89,136           (250)               (95,014)         -                     (229,468)       

Cash at beginning of year 4,731,685       89,268           2,500             152,520         2,500             4,978,473     

Cash at end of year   $ 4,508,345       178,404        2,250             57,506           2,500             4,749,005     

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities:

Operating income (loss) $ (5,781,955)      617,714         -                     88,753           (1,900)            (5,077,388)    

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash

provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation 4,008,483       527,192         -                     10,989           -                     4,546,664     

Bad debt expense (recovery) 298,921          -                     -                     (1,851)            -                     297,070         

Miscellaneous revenues 616,176          -                     -                     15,329           -                     631,505         

Miscellaneous expense (104,656)         -                     -                     (5,435)            -                     (110,091)       

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in noncapital grant receivables 104,850          -                     -                     -                     -                     104,850         

(Increase) decrease in tenant and other receivables 38,342             -                     -                     10,351           -                     48,693           

(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses 468,632          (243)               -                     -                     1,900             470,289         

(Decrease) increase in accounts payable - trade (475,641)         -                     (250)               (15,150)         -                     (491,041)       

(Decrease) increase in accrued expenses 850                  -                     -                     -                     -                     850                

(Decrease) increase in accrued payroll and related liabilities (19,192)           -                     -                     -                     -                     (19,192)         

(Decrease) increase in accrued compensated absences 20,453             -                     -                     -                     -                     20,453           

(Decrease) increase in contract obligations payable (104,587)         -                     -                     -                     -                     (104,587)       

(Decrease) increase in unearned revenue 202,922          97,474           -                     4,671             -                     305,067         

(Decrease) increase in security deposits (1,658)             -                     -                     2,337             -                     679                

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (728,060)         1,242,137     (250)               109,994         -                     623,821         

Noncash capital and related financing activities:
Capital contributions - capital assets 243,160          -                     -                     -                     -                     243,160         
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Exhibit 4

MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Schedule of Operating Revenues - Budget to Actual

Variance

positive

Budget Actual (negative)

Income:

Lease revenue $ 1,010,700     1,074,266     63,566           

Special service assessments 1,875,900     2,792,511     916,611         

Common area maintenance fees 86,800           75,093 (11,707)          

Transient aircraft fees and fuel flowage 63,500           49,097           (14,403)          

Office of Economic Development - D.O.D. 380,400         429,307         48,907           

Local match 55,600           375,803         320,203         

Miscellaneous 56,200           134,400         78,200           

Interest on notes receivable -                 98,726           98,726           

Interest on investments 46,800           27,489 (19,311)          

Total income 3,575,900     5,056,692     1,480,792     

Transfers:

From subsidiaries 195,000         412,555         217,555         

Total transfers 195,000         412,555         217,555         

Use of annuitization fund 902,800         -                 (902,800)       

Total operating revenues $ 4,673,700     5,469,247     795,547         

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017
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Exhibit 5

MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Schedule of Operating Expenses - Budget to Actual

Variance

positive

Budget Actual (negative)

Personnel services:

Salaries $ 754,300         795,682         (41,382)          

Wages 216,500         222,935         (6,435)            

Other pay 15,000           -                 15,000           

Overtime wages -                 315                 (315)               

Total personnel services 985,800         1,018,932     (33,132)          

Employee benefits:

Unemployment compensation 9,100             4,617             4,483             

Workers' compensation insurance 7,600             8,973             (1,373)            

Deferred compensation 73,900           76,211           (2,311)            

FICA taxes 75,500           72,283           3,217             

Other employee benefits 155,000         148,127         6,873             

Total employee benefits 321,100         310,211         10,889           

Supplies:

Office supplies 8,200             8,161             39                   

Books and periodicals 700                 481                 219                 

Postage 3,800             3,177             623                 

Photocopier 5,000             4,834             166                 

Sand and chemicals 1,500             -                 1,500             

Cleaning supplies 300                 127                 173                 

Heating fuel 200,500         198,332         2,168             

Gasoline and oil 24,900           24,285           615                 

Uniforms and personal safety equipment 1,200             493                 707                 

Total supplies 246,100         239,890         6,210             

Professional services:

Employee training 7,100             4,562             2,538             

Dues and memberships 2,100             4,228             (2,128)            

Board expenses 7,500             30                   7,470             

Executive director meeting expenses 3,200             1,842             1,358             

Annual dinner 8,900             10,639           (1,739)            

Computer services 35,900           41,070           (5,170)            

Permits and fees 4,900             2,655             2,245             

Legal services 49,900           30,507           19,393           

Other professional services 97,000           139,761         (42,761)          

Audit services 23,600           23,850           (250)               

Total professional services 240,100         259,144         (19,044)          

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017
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Exhibit 5, continued

MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Schedule of Operating Expenses - Budget to Actual, continued

Variance

positive

Budget Actual (negative)

Property services:

Vehicle maintenance $ 10,000           14,425           (4,425)            

Electricity 1,459,200     2,106,507     (647,307)       

Water and sewer 181,900         696,006         (514,106)       

Telephone 22,300           23,801           (1,501)            

Building maintenance 188,000         83,923           104,077         

Rental expenses 14,500           15,622           (1,122)            

Infrastructure maintenance 169,300         128,376         40,924           

Equipment maintenance 30,000           11,088           18,912           

Waste collection 7,400             2,623             4,777             

Snow removal 158,300         122,617         35,683           

Pavement and markings 26,100           30,875           (4,775)            

Vegetation maintenance 5,700             6,970             (1,270)            

Security maintenance 10,900           5,675             5,225             

Navigation aid maintenance and service 27,800           17,484           10,316           

Miscellaneous repairs and maintenance 89,600           46,907           42,693           

Local match MAP projects -                 8,621             (8,621)            

Total property services 2,401,000     3,321,520     (920,520)       

Other purchased services:

Street lights 110,800         116,212         (5,412)            

Liability insurance 7,000             6,799             201                

Building insurance 46,100           27,207           18,893           

Automobile insurance 13,500           3,461             10,039           

Travel 15,100           9,675             5,425             

Advertising 5,100             5,212             (112)               

Printing 3,000             3,472             (472)               

Donations -                 105,971         (105,971)       

Contingency 8,100             17,500           (9,400)            

Total other purchased services 208,700         295,509         (86,809)          

Capital outlay:

Land -                 1,383 (1,383)            

Street and sidewalks -                 55,220 (55,220)          

Tech hardware 1,300             -                 1,300             

Tech software 1,300             -                 1,300             

Total capital outlay 2,600             56,603           (54,003)          

Bad debt expense 70,700           324,424 (253,724)       

Debt service:

Interest 10,200           11,274           (1,074)            

Navy covenant agreement payment 46,000           183,884         (137,884)       

Total debt service 56,200           195,158         (138,958)       

Transfers:

To subsidiaries 123,400         99,733 23,667           

To capital improvement sinking fund 18,000           -                 18,000           

Total transfers 141,400         99,733           41,667           

Total operating expenses $ 4,673,700     6,121,124     (1,447,424)    

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017
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Exhibit 6

MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Schedule of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Operating Capital Net (expense)

Charges for grants and grants and revenue and change
Functions/programs Expenses services contributions contributions in net position

Business-type activities:
Redevelopment of Naval Air Station $ 11,869,812           5,425,490              429,307               4,231,967                         (1,783,048)                          

General revenues:

    Miscellaneous revenues 757,720                               

Gain on sale of property 63,438                                 

  Total general revenues and gain on sale 821,158                               

Change in net position (961,890)                             

Net position - beginning, as restated 119,444,871                       

Net position - ending $ 118,482,981                       

Program Revenues
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Certified Public Accountants and Business Consultants

October 18, 2017

To the Board of Trustees of 
  Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority:

We have audited the financial statements of Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority (a component 
unit of the State of Maine) for the year ended June 30, 2017.  Professional standards require that we 
provide you with information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards, 
Government Auditing Standards and the Uniform Guidance, as well as certain information related to the 
planned scope and timing of our audit.  We have communicated such information in our discussion with 
the Chair of the Board of Trustees on May 17, 2017.  Professional standards also require that we 
communicate to you the following information related to our audit.

Our Responsibilities under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards, Government Auditing Standards, 
and the Uniform Guidance

As stated in our engagement letter dated May 10, 2017, our responsibility, as described by professional 
standards, is to express an opinion about whether the financial statements prepared by management 
with your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles.  Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you or 
management of your responsibilities. 

In planning and performing our audit, we considered Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority’s
internal control over financial reporting in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose 
of expressing our opinion on the financial statements and not to provide assurance on the internal 
control over financial reporting.  We also considered internal control over compliance with 
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program in order to 
determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and to test 
and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance.

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority’s
financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants.  However, providing an opinion on
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit.  Also, in accordance with the 
Uniform Guidance, we examined, on a test basis, evidence about Midcoast Regional Redevelopment 
Authority’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the U.S. Office of 
Management and Budget (OMB) Compliance Supplement applicable to each of its major federal 
programs for the purpose of expressing an opinion on Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority’s
compliance with those requirements.  While our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion, it 
does not provide a legal determination on Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority’s compliance 
with those requirements.
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Board of Trustees of
   Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority
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Significant Audit Findings

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority are described in the notes to 
the financial statements.  No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing 
policies was not changed during 2017.  We noted no transactions entered into by Midcoast Regional 
Redevelopment Authority during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or 
consensus.  All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper
period.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions 
about future events.  Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance 
to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected.  The most sensitive estimates affecting Midcoast Regional 
Redevelopment Authority’s financial statements were:

1) Management's estimates of the value of capital assets contributed from the U.S. Navy and 
the depreciable lives of capital assets and depreciation expense

2) Management’s estimate of the allowance for uncollectible accounts and notes receivable

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates to determine that they 
were reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users.  The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing 
our audit.

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during 
the audit other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management.  Management has corrected all such misstatements, some of which were material (see 
attached list of adjusting journal entries).
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Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during 
the course of our audit.

Management Representations

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the attached 
management representation letter dated October 18, 2017.

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations.  If a consultation 
involves application of an accounting principle to the governmental unit’s financial statements or a 
determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our 
professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the 
consultant has all the relevant facts.  To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other 
accountants.

Other Audit Findings or Issues

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as Midcoast Regional Redevelopment 
Authority’s auditors.  However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional 
relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention.

Other Matters

We applied certain limited procedures to the management discussion and analysis, which is required 
supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements.  Our procedures 
consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 
statements.  We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
RSI.

We were engaged to report on the schedule of expenditures of federal awards, the combining 
statements, the schedules of operating revenues and expenses – budget to actual, and the schedule of 
activities, which accompany the financial statements but are not RSI.  
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With respect to this supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and 
evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the 
information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the 
method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and 
complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements.  We compared and reconciled the 
supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves.  

Restriction on Use

This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Trustees and management of Midcoast 
Regional Redevelopment Authority and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other 
than these specified parties.

Very truly yours,
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Report: Adjusting Journal Entries

Period Ending: 6/30/2017

Account Description Debit Credit

BRUNSWICK LANDING REALTY DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, LLC

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 1 HH

50999 Expenses Billed to Other Entities 10,010.60

24210 Accounts Payable 568.70

50901-1 Transfer MRRA and BL RDC 1,373.90

50910 Income and Property Taxes: Common Area Maintenance Charge 8,068.00

Total 10,010.60 10,010.60

BRUNSWICK LANDING MHC USA, LLC

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 2 EE-02

50805 Debt Service: Interest Expense 48,349.91

24911 Other Current Liabilities 48,349.91

Total 48,349.91 48,349.91

MIDCOAST REGIONAL REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 3 ZZ-1

37300 Retained Earnings 6,204.30

50102 Personnel Services:Salaries 5,364.72

50211 Employee Benefits:Deferred Compensation 429.18

50230 Employee Benefits:FICA Taxes 410.40

Total 6,204.30 6,204.30

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 4 EE-1

24500 MRDA Loan Payable -SaviLinx 1,239.62

50805 Debt Service:Interest Expense 1,239.62

Total 1,239.62 1,239.62

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 5 AA-4

13500 Construction in Progress 56,102.48

24210 Accounts Payable 56,102.48

Total 56,102.48 56,102.48

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 6 1o

50720 Capital Outlay:Capital Outlay - Vehicles 21,336.73

60000 Gain/Loss on Sale of Property 21,336.73

Total 21,336.73 21,336.73

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 7 1o

40280-6 Intergovernmental Revenue:Tax Increment Financing 572,882.71

50910 Property Tax Credit Enhancement Agrement 572,882.71

Total 572,882.71 572,882.71

To balance intercompany receivables/payables and transfers.

To record accrued interest at year end.

To post prior year entry for accrued wages that was not recorded by client.

To adjust MRDA Loan Payable to match confirmation.

To record accounts payable found during search

To record sale of Volkswagen Passat under buy-back program.

To remove expense related to TIF agreement.
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Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 8 1o

50701 Capital Outlay:Capital Outlay - Land 175,976.50

24210 Accounts Payable 175,976.50

Total 175,976.50 175,976.50

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 9 HH

24720 Property Tax Holding Account 228,748.92

40303-6 Charge For Services Revenue:Common Area Maintenance Charges 19,283.61

50901-1 Transfers:Transfer to/from MRRA and Brunswick Realty Development Corporation 122,747.46

50901-2 Transfers:Transfer to/from BXM and Brunswick Landing Realty Development Corporation 13,241.84

50901-3 Transfers:Transfer to/from Electricity and Brunswick Landing Realty Development Corporation 46,262.24

50901-4 Transfers:Transfer to/from Water Utility and Brunswick Landing Realty Development Corporation 2,005.21

50901-5 Transfers:Transfer to/from Sewer and Brunswick Landing Realty Development Corporation 455.46

50901-c Transfers:Transfer to/from TIF Fund Reserves and CIP 228,748.92

50901-g Transfers:Transfer Brunswick Landing Realty Development and MRRA 106,550.00

Total 384,021.83 384,021.83

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 10 G-3

40280-6 Intergovernmental Revenue:Tax Increment Financing 154,766.72

24720 Property Tax Holding Account 154,766.72

Total 154,766.72 154,766.72

To adjust property tax holding account to zero and to adjust actual TIF revenues to actual.

To put amount withheld from Navy payment back into payables as Navy has not agreed to reduce the required payment.

To balance intercompany payables/receivables and transfers.
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